Hooked on Phonics

Science of Reading Research Basis

Hooked on Phonics aligns to the 2023 (up-to-date) best practices for effective reading instruction.

Science of Reading Research Basis

Hooked on Phonics

Table of Contents

The Problem	1
The Solution–The Science of Reading	3
Hooked on Phonics Methodology	3
Multisensory Instruction	4
Research-Driven Approach	5
Phonemic Awareness	5
Phonics	6
Fluency	7
Vocabulary	7
Comprehension	8
Spelling	9
K-to-Third-Grade Learners	9
Fourth-Grade-to-Adult Learners	10
Dyslexic Learners	11
English Language Learners	12
References	13

For more information: classroom@hookedonphonics.com

The Problem

The United Status is experiencing a reading crisis-a crisis that has lasted for decades and cuts across all demographics.

It starts in early childhood of course, when the aptitude for learning is at its peak. But the inability to read proficiently leads to severe, lifelong obstruction to an individual's ability to succeed in the modern world. As many as 44 million adults in the U.S. cannot decode well enough to read a simple story to a child (Kirsch, et al., 1993).

Without proper intervention, the outlook for struggling readers is bleak. Sixty percent of America's prison inmates are illiterate, and 85% of all juvenile offenders have reading problems (Greenberg, Dunleavy, & Kutner; 2007). In fact, some states in the U.S. refer to third-grade reading proficiency rates when projecting the number of prison cells that will be needed 20 years into the future (Bolton & Lavoie, 2004). A Criminal Justice Policy Council study reported that 37 percent of young prisoners were less likely to return to prison if they learned to read during their incarceration (Susswein, 2000, as cited in Keith & McCray, 2002).

COVID took a very bleak situation and made it even worse. When the 2022 NAEP scores were released, the long-simmering awareness of the nation's setbacks in reading instruction bubbled over into front-page headline news in leading newspapers and TV news and led to an acknowledgment of the problem's severity at every kitchen table.

In sum, the average reading score at both fourth and eighth grades decreased by three points as compared to 2019–the first significant reduction ever from already severely low proficiency scores. At fourth grade, the average reading score was lower than all previous assessment years dating back to 2005 and not significantly different in comparison to 1992.

At eighth grade, the average reading score was lower compared to all previous assessment years dating back to 1998 and not significantly different compared to 1992. In 2022, fourth- and eighth-grade reading scores declined for most states/jurisdictions compared to 2019 (NAEP, 2022).¹

¹ The 2022 Math scores were even worse. The average fourth-grade mathematics score decreased by five points and was lower than all previous assessment years going back to 2005; the average score was one point higher compared to 2003. The average eighth-grade mathematics score decreased by 8 points compared to 2019 and was lower than all previous assessment years going back to 2003. In 2022, fourth- and eighth-grade mathematics scores declined for most states/jurisdictions as well as for most participating urban districts compared to 2019. (NAEP, 2022)

As the below charts from the NAEP report show, reading scores began their decline *before* the COVID shutdowns.



Figure 1. Trend in fourth- and eighth-grade reading average scores (NAEP, 2022)

Put in everyday terms, the state of affairs is even more shocking: more than two-thirds of fourth graders in the United States today are not proficient readers. The question immediately turns to "Why?" Why, despite massive investment at federal, state, and local levels specifically targeted to early education—and more specifically intended to help our nation's youth learn to read—have we been essentially running in place for the last 30 years?

The answer lies in the "How." How have we been instructing our young, emergent students in learning to read, and what type of intervention have we used with older students who read below grade level? For the last three decades, the dominant practice in our classrooms has been the "three-cueing method" of reading instruction, also known as the "whole language approach."

These techniques are also known as MSV, an acronym that stands for the three sources of information: meaning, sentence structure, and visual (the letters). By focusing on the "whole language" rather than the decoding of words (phonics), MSV is supposed to promote a joy of reading—and may do so on its own in those who pick up reading naturally or with minimal systematic instruction. The fact remains, however, that reading scores have remained flat, and at a very low level, during the entirety of this period.

The Solution-The Science of Reading

It has been repeatedly demonstrated that, for the two-thirds of the population who do not pick up reading naturally, a systematic approach to decoding words is required. Phonics turns out to be central to that approach. The proper methodology does not ignore meaning and comprehension, it simply begins with explicit instruction on foundational literacy skills: on phonemic awareness (hearing and manipulating the smallest units of sound that make up words) coupled with phonics (matching letters and spelling patterns to sounds). Decades of research have proven that most students require this type of explicit, systematic instruction in order to become fluent readers.

The systematic approach that encompasses all of this, as well as fluency, vocabulary, and comprehension, is known as the science of reading.

For 50 years, a wide body of research has demonstrated the superiority of the science of reading for the majority of people who will not read proficiently without it. In 1975, Keith Stanovich set out to demonstrate the efficacy of the whole language approach developed in 1967 by Ken Goodwin, to focus on words and context rather than phonemic awareness. Instead Stanovich's research definitively demonstrated the opposite: "It was the poorer readers, not the more skilled readers, who were reliant on context to facilitate word recognition. The skilled readers could instantly recognize words without relying on context." The struggling readers had no choice but to rely on the "cues" because they could not read the words. This inability is self-reinforcing-the frustration continues through school and into adulthood (Stanovich, K. E., & Stanovich, P. J., 1995). Stanovich's findings have been repeatedly confirmed in the 50 years since (Kim, 2008; Stanovich, 2016; Høien, Lundberg, Stanovich, & Bjaalid, 1995; Allen, Cipielewski, Stanovich, 1992). Acknowledging this reality, 29 states and the District of Columbia have passed new legislation or implemented policies mandating the science of reading and related evidenced-based methodologies since 2022 (Schwartz, 2022).

Hooked on Phonics Methodology

The Hooked on Phonics method delivers engaging, explicit, systematic phonics instruction through an approach based on current science of reading (SoR) best practices. Instruction is cumulative and organized in a sequence that enhances learning and simplifies teaching. We start with phonological and phonemic awareness, in which each individual sound of the English language is explicitly taught along with the letter(s) that represents the sound. Building phonological awareness is a good predictor of later reading success or difficulty.

Five phonetic skills are taught to help students recognize short and long vowel patterns in words and syllables. Decoding skills are presented to show students how to decode multisyllabic words.

Multisensory Instruction

Our multisensory approach, including videos, interactive games, e-books, printed material, and manipulatives enhances learning and memory by engaging auditory, visual, and kinesthetic modes during instruction. Throughout the course of instruction, students are provided with engaging activities for practice and application of the skills learned.

Multisensory teaching links listening, speaking, reading, and writing to reinforce learning of the language structure through active student engagement. Multisensory learning involves the simultaneous use of visual, auditory, and kinesthetic-tactile modalities to enhance memory and learning of written language (Farrell & Sherman, 2011).

Multisensory techniques were first used in the mid-1920s by Dr. Samuel Orton, who was influenced by the kinesthetic teaching method described by Grace Fernald and Helen Keller. Later, Anna Gillingham and Bessie Stillman published a manual describing a structured, sequential, and multisensory teaching method based on Dr. Orton's theories, creating what is now known as the Orton-Gillingham multisensory approach to instruction (International Dyslexia Association, 2009).

In a number of research studies, multisensory instruction is proving to be more effective than traditional instruction in the areas of phonemic awareness, decoding skills, and reading comprehension (Carreker et al., 2005; Carreker, Neuhaus, & Swank, 2007; Foorman, Francis, Shaywitz, et al., 1997; Joshi, Dahlgren, & Boulware-Gooden, 2002). In one study on the development of literacy-related skills, second and third graders who received an Orton-Gillingham-based, synthetic phonics (i.e., part-to-whole) approach outperformed children who received a combined synthetic/analytic (i.e., part-to-whole/whole-to-part) phonics approach or a sight-word approach (Foorman, Francis, Beeler, et al., 1997).

Hooked on Phonics was designed to teach and support emergent readers in prekindergarten to second grade and can also be used to improve reading skills of older students, those with special needs, English language learners, and others that did not master reading during early grade school.

Research-Driven Approach

This overview of research outlines the way our method relates to each of the five pillars of effective reading instruction as identified by the National Reading Panel (NRP; National Institute of Child Health and Human Development [NICHD] in 2000). Research has consistently demonstrated over five decades that the use of explicit phonics instruction is successful with various types of learners, including emerging readers (kindergarten through third grade), struggling readers (fourth through twelfth grade), adult learners, students with dyslexia and other special needs, and English language learners.

Elements of effective reading instruction as reported by the National Reading Panel (NICHD, 2000) are well established in literature. Empirical studies confirm that instruction that builds phonemic awareness, decoding skills, text-reading fluency, vocabulary, and comprehension is the best antidote for reading difficulty (Fletcher, Lyon, Fuchs, & Barnes, 2007; Foorman & Moats, 2004).

Instruction delivered through *Hooked on Phonics* not only helps prevent reading difficulty by establishing necessary foundational skills for all learners, but also provides a remedy for readers who struggle with the task of decoding. Mastery of the concepts taught in our program empowers students with the ability to successfully decode the vast majority of words they encounter in printed text. Instruction in this method also enhances other areas of reading development.

The National Reading Panel identified five key concepts at the core of every effective reading instruction program: Phonemic Awareness, Phonics, Fluency, Vocabulary, and Comprehension.

Phonemic Awareness

Phonemic awareness is the ability to identify and manipulate phonemes (individual sounds) in spoken words (Liberman, Shankweiler, Fischer, & Carter, 1974) and is one of the best predictors of reading success (Langenberg, 2000; Muter, Hulme, Snowling, & Taylor, 1997; Stuart & Masterson, 1992). Phonemic awareness instruction does not require the use of printed words or letters. However, a meta-analysis conducted by Bus and van IJzendoorn (1999) revealed that programs combining graphemes (letters) with phonemes (sounds) during instruction were more effective than phonemic awareness training alone. Phonemic awareness is necessary for all readers to be successful, although it is only a beginning step in learning to read (NICHD, 2000).

In best practices, phonological and phonemic awareness is addressed prior to phonics instruction, including these seven areas of phonemic awareness: rhyming, syllable counting, initial sounds, blending, final sounds, medial sounds, and segmentation.

The *Hooked on Phonics* method provides explicit instruction in the 44 sounds of the English language. As each phoneme (sound) is instructed, the grapheme (letter or letter combination) that represents each sound is explicitly taught, strengthening phonemic awareness and laying the foundation for fluent decoding.

Phonics

Proficient reading is the ability to identify individual words quickly and accurately (Adams, 1990; Ehri, 1998; Perfetti, 1985; Rayner & Pollatsek, 1989; Snow, Burns, & Griffin, 1998). This is sometimes referred to as reading by sight. Mastery of letter-sound correspondences aids in the successful identification of words.

Phonics is a method of instruction that teaches students the relationships between written letters and spoken sounds and guides them in how to use this knowledge to fluently read and spell words.

Prevention and intervention studies support the explicit teaching of patterns and rules for successful decoding and spelling as opposed to whole-word memorization (Berninger, 2000; Berninger et al., 2005; Ehri, 2004; Felton, 1993; Foorman, Francis, Beeler, Winikates & Fletcher, 1997; Scalon & Vellutino, 1996; Torgeson, 2000; Torgeson, Wagner, & Rashotte, 1997).

Students who are taught to blend sounds to form words learn letter-sound correspondences more quickly, strengthen phonemic awareness, increase automaticity in word reading, and improve spelling and comprehension skills significantly beyond their chronological ages (Johnston & Watson, 2006).

Phonics instruction is most effective when it is explicitly taught and systematically organized in a sequence that moves from simple to complex (NICHD, 2000). The *Hooked on Phonics* program explicitly teaches the structures of words in the English language. In a sequential fashion, each of the 44 sounds in our language is taught along with the letter(s) that represents that sound. Students are immediately taught to blend together sounds to decode and encode words. Five phonetic skills are taught to help students quickly and accurately read and spell words with short and long vowel patterns. Two decoding skills provide students with strategies to decode multisyllabic words.

The instruction in the *Hooked on Phonics* method is explicit, systematic, and cumulative. Skills taught in the program progress from simple to complex. Students are given multiple practice opportunities to read and spell words from each lesson, allowing for mastery of the current skill before the next one is introduced. A particular emphasis is placed on transferring skills to connected text through the process of reading decodable and complex sentences, passages, and books.

Fluency

Fluency is defined as the speed of decoding gained as one masters the alphabetic code (Stanovich, 1980). Phonics instruction initiates the development of decoding ability and word reading accuracy, both of which improve a student's ability to recognize words with automaticity. With practice and repeated exposure to print, fluency develops and improves (NICHD, 2000). When fluency is fully developed, accuracy, rate, and expression function well, and attention can be allocated to comprehension (Wolf & Katzer-Cohen, 2001).

Throughout the *Hooked on Phonics* program, students are given multiple opportunities to develop reading fluency. As students master the written code of English, they more quickly decode and encode a growing number of words. Within each lesson, particular emphasis is placed on transferring skills to connected text through the process of reading and rereading sentences, passages, and books.

Vocabulary

Vocabulary is a storehouse of known meanings used to comprehend and communicate. It has a strong correlation to overall reading comprehension (NICHD, 2000).

Prior to reaching the middle grades, children can understand more words than they can read. Reading comprehension can be expressed as the product of phonics skills and listening comprehension (Lane & Contesse, 2022). In time, vocabulary knowledge increases as more words are learned from reading than from listening to spoken language (Nagy & Anderson, 1984).

Phonics bridges the gap between spoken words that students know and written words that students may not recognize. The ability to accurately decode words enables students to learn new words they encounter in print. The more students analyze, read, and write the same words, the stronger the memory, and the faster the recognition (Ehri, 2004).

The Hooked on Phonics reading system not only allows for accuracy in reading and spelling words, but also addresses word meaning and usage. Words that are introduced during direct instruction are encountered by students in the context of a sentence in over 100 fully illustrated eBooks, with a "read to me" option. The stories feature the just-learned words, leading to reading success.

As teachers instruct students using our method, those students will be empowered with the skill to accurately decode known and unknown words they encounter in text, giving them the opportunity to add to their reading and speaking vocabularies.

Comprehension

Though phonics instruction is necessary for students who are learning to read, teaching phonics is a means to an end. The purpose of phonics instruction is to teach students to recognize words automatically and fluently so they can attend to comprehending the text (Adams, 1990; Stahl, 1992). Essential tools for reading comprehension are general language comprehension skills and accurate, fluent, word-reading skills (Gough, 1996; Torgesen, 1998; Snow et al., 1998).

About 80% of the variance in the reading comprehension scores of first graders can be attributed to the ability to sound out new words. This ability is also a good predictor of reading comprehension skill in fourth grade (Foorman, Francis, Shaywitz, Shaywitz, & Fletcher, 1997; Juel, 1994). Aaron, Joshi, and Williams (1999) found that weak word-reading skills were the primary cause of poor reading comprehension in third grade students. After at-risk readers learn necessary decoding skills, improvements are observed in all reading skills, including passage comprehension (Foorman & Schatschneider, 2003). Reading comprehension is not likely to occur when effort is expended on sounding out each word (Shankweiler et al., 1999). Torgesen (as cited in Hasbrouck, 2010) stated that "there is no comprehension strategy that compensates for difficulty reading words accurately and fluently."

Teachers who teach using the *Hooked on Phonics* method provide students with the foundational skills necessary to read for meaning and enjoyment. Throughout the *Hooked on Phonics* instruction, students develop automatic word recognition, learn the meanings of new words, and increase their ability to fluently read increasingly complex text, all of which are necessary components for reading comprehension–which is the ultimate goal of reading.

Spelling

Spelling is not considered one of the five pillars of the science of reading; however spelling instruction supports and goes hand-in-hand with reading (Moats, 2005/2006). Accurate spelling indicates that students know the sounds of language as well as the letter or letter combinations that represent each sound.

Students who do not have sufficient knowledge of phonics struggle with reading and spelling (Ehri, 2000; Fayol, Zorman, & Lete, 2009). Automaticity in reading and spelling requires repeated exposure to letter-sound patterns of the language delivered through explicit phonics instruction (Robbins, Hosp, Hosp, & Flynn, 2010).

When reading (decoding) and spelling (encoding) are taught together, students have more practice applying common patterns. Converging evidence shows that integrated encoding and decoding instruction results in significant gains in multiple areas of reading, including word reading skills, fluency, and comprehension (Graham & Hebert, 2010; Weiser & Mathes, 2011).

Spelling instruction and decoding instruction is provided through *Hooked on Phonics'* sister program *Hooked on Spelling*. Students are able to put this knowledge to use as they learn spelling patterns for single words and syllables. As students become more knowledgeable about the spelling patterns in the English language, their spelling improves.

The process of dictation is a central part of each direct instruction lesson. Students apply the skills they have learned by listening to and spelling each word the teacher dictates to them.

K-to-Third-Grade Learners

Reading is not naturally acquired in the same way speech is acquired (Adams, 1990; Adams & Bruck, 1993; Liberman, 1992; Liberman & Liberman, 1990; Perfetti, 1991; Pressley & Rankin, 1994). Effective instruction is necessary for the development of reading skills.

A converging body of research supports explicit and systematic phonics instruction for all students (Ehri, 2004; McCardle, Chhabra, & Kapinus, 2008; Carreker et al., 2005; Joshi et al., 2002; NICHD, 2000; Ryder, Tunmer, & Greaney, 2007). The National Reading Panel found that phonics instruction is most effective when taught from kindergarten to second grade and builds the foundation for reading success in later grade levels (NICHD, 2000). Both beginning and struggling readers benefit from explicit phonics instruction (Aaron, Joshi, & Quatroche, 2008; Berninger & Wolf, 2009; Birsh, 2005; Fletcher et al., 2007). Such instruction can lead to significant success when intervening with atrisk readers in the early grades (Foorman & Schatschneider, 2003).

Strong phonics instruction can prevent reading failure in many young children and alleviate the effects of poor instruction at any age (Lyon et al., 2001). Researchers now conclude that roughly 95% of first-grade students can be taught to read at a level limited only by their abilities to reason and understand spoken language (Hatcher, Hulme, & Snowling, 2004; Mathes, et al. 2005). In the words of Maryanne Wolf (2007), "Today, we possess sufficient knowledge about the components of reading to be able not only to diagnose almost every child in kindergarten at risk of a learning difficulty but also to teach most children to read" (p. 21).

Hooked on Phonics was created for pre-K to 2nd grade tier 1 instruction. The explicit, systematic, direct instruction provides a solid foundation for students who are, at this age level, "primed" for literacy instruction. The multisensory approach keeps students engaged and strengthens learning and recall. Our program can be delivered to a whole class, a small group, one-on-one, and by the student outside of class on his or her own. *Hooked on Phonics* provides effective instruction for all beginning readers as well as for students who need intervention. Our program can be utilized across grade levels.

Interactive software is available to supplement direct instruction and provide individualized practice and reinforcement of each skill. The program also includes learning materials specific to younger learners, such as decodable readers for each skill lesson. Assessment is administered throughout the program to monitor student progress as well as identify students in need of intervention.

Fourth-Grade-to-Adult Learners

Researchers estimate that one out of 10 adolescents has serious struggles with word identification (Curtis & Longo, 1999), which is a problem that usually stems from difficulties with phonological word analysis (Kamil, 2006; National Institute for Literacy [NIFL], 2007). For such students, *Hooked on Phonics* can be used for tier 2 and tier 3 intervention and recovery.

In a study conducted with 346 adolescent readers, Deshler, Hock, and Catts (2006) investigated which reading skills adolescents had mastered and which skills they had not. After analyzing several reading assessments, the researchers found that struggling adolescent readers who performed at or below the 40th percentile "need intensive word-level interventions in addition to comprehension interventions" (Deshler et al., 2006, p. 21).

Such word-level interventions should include decoding and word recognition. Further investigation reveals that over half of the struggling adolescents in urban schools struggle with word-level reading (Hock et al., 2009). They, along with many other reading researchers, conclude that adequate skills in word-level reading, as suggested by the National Reading Panel (NICHD, 2000), must be developed if proficient reading is to be achieved (Connor, Morrison, & Underwood, 2007; Leach et al., 2003; Curtis & Longo, 1999; Deschler et al., 2001; Lovett, Barron, & Benson, 2003; Penney, 2002).

Hooked on Phonics can be used to improve reading skills of older students, those with dyslexia and other learning disabilities, English language learners, and others that did not master reading during early grade school.

Dyslexic Learners

Dyslexia is a specific learning disability that is neurological in origin. It is characterized by difficulties with accurate and/or fluent word recognition and by poor spelling and decoding abilities. These difficulties usually result from a phonological processing deficit and are often unexpected in relation to a student's other cognitive abilities. Secondary consequences may include problems in reading comprehension and reduced reading experience that can impede growth of vocabulary and background knowledge (Lyon, Shaywitz, & Shaywitz, 2003).

Seventy-four percent of children who struggle with reading in third grade remain significantly below grade level in ninth grade (Francis, Shaywitz, Stuebing, Shaywitz, and Fletcher, 1996). However, intensive, systematic, code-based reading interventions rewire the brain and yield significant gains in fluency and comprehension no matter the student's age (Shaywitz et al. 2004). If children who are dyslexic receive systematic, code-based instruction before third grade, they will have significantly fewer problems in learning to read at grade level (Lyon, 1996; Shaywitz, 2003; Shaywitz, et al., 2004).

The Hooked on Phonics program has been successfully used anecdotally with students diagnosed with dyslexia. The multisensory instructional approach strengthens modalities (e.g., visual, auditory, and kinesthetic-tactile) that may not have been sufficiently developed in the brain while simultaneously supporting modalities that are more developed. Our method can be used with dyslexic students and adults of any age.

English Language Learners

Phonics instruction is also effective for students and adults learning English. Although phonics has historically not been an area of emphasis in second-language reading, several researchers and educators suggest that the teaching of phonics skills is an effective approach to teaching the foundational skills necessary for literacy development (Anderson, 2008; Birch, 2002; Jones, 1996; Fish et al., 2007). Jones (1996) asserts that "the question should no longer be whether to teach phonics as part of adult ELL instruction, but how this might be done most effectively" (p.2).

English language learners with limited oral vocabularies benefit from early decoding instruction. In one study, English language learners receiving explicit instruction in phonemic awareness and phonics did just as well as native English speakers who received the same instruction and significantly outperformed English speakers who did not receive such instruction (Morgan & Willows, 1998).

Hooked on Phonics has been used with English language learners of all ages. Students learning English benefit from the explicit focus on each of the sounds in English. In addition, as they progress through the program, English language learners learn that the spelling of English is largely predictable and consistent. Vocabulary development is robustly supported in our program for students learning English. For older students, supplemental language instruction materials are available for direct instruction.

References

- Aaron, P. G., Joshi, M., & Williams, K. A., (1999). Not all reading disabilities are alike. Journal of Learning Disabilities, 32, 120-137.
- Aaron, P. G., Joshi, R. M., & Quatroche, D. (2008). *Becoming a professional reading teacher*. Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.
- Adams, M. J. (1990). Beginning to Read: Thinking and learning about print. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Adams, M. J. and Bruck, M. (1993). Word recognition: The interface of educational policies and scientific research. *Reading and Writing: An Interdisciplinary Journal*, 5, 113-139.
- Allen, L., Cipielewski, J., Stanovich, & K.E. (1992). Multiple indicators of children's reading habits and attitudes: Construct validity and cognitive correlates. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 84(4), 489-503.
- Anderson, N.J. (2008). Practical English Language Teaching: Reading. NY: McGraw Hill.
- Berninger, V. W. (2000). Dyslexia the invisible, treatable disorder: The story of Einstein's ninja turtles. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 23(3), 175-195.
- Berninger, V. W., Nagy, W. E., Carlisle, J., Thomson, J., Hoffer, D., Abbott, S., et al. (2005).
 Effective treatment for children with dyslexia in grades 4-6: Behavioral and brain evidence. In B. Foorman (Ed.), *Preventing and remediating reading disabilities:* Bringing science to scale (pp. 355-379). Timonium, MD: York Press.
- Berninger, V. W., & Wolf, B. (2009). *Teaching students with dyslexia and dysgraphia:* Lessons from teaching and science. Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.
- Birch, B. M. (2002). *English L2 Reading: Getting to the bottom*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Birsh, J. R. (Ed.). (2005). *Multisensory teaching of basic language skills (2nd ed.)*. Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.
- Bolton, D. (Interviewer), & Lavoie, R. (Interviewee). (2004, October 27). [Interview transcript]. Retrieved from: http://www.childrenofthecode.org/interviews/lavoie.htm#PrisonBuildingPrograms
- Bus, A. G., & van IJzendoorn, M. H. (1999). Phonological awareness and early reading: A meta-analysis of experimental training studies. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 91(3), 403-414.

- Carreker, S. H., Swank, P. R., Neuhaus, G. F., Tillman-Dowdy, L., Monfils, M. J., & Montemayor, M. L., et al. (2005). Language enrichment teacher preparation and practice predicts third grade reading comprehension. *Reading Psychology*, 26, 401-432.
- Carreker, S. H., Neuhaus, G. F. & Swank, P. R. (2007). Teachers with linguistically-informed knowledge of reading subskills are associated with a Matthew Effect in reading comprehension for monolingual and bilingual students. *Reading Psychology*, 28, 187-212.
- Connor, C. M., Morrison, F. J., & Underwood, P. (2007). A second chance in second grade? The cumulative impact of first and second grade reading instruction on students' letter-word reading skills. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 11(3), 199-233.
- Cox, A. R. (1992). Foundations for literacy: Structures and techniques for multisensory teaching of basic written English skills. Cambridge, MA: Educators Publishing Service.
- Curtis, M. E., & Longo, A. M. (1999). When adolescents can't read: Methods and materials that work. Cambridge, MA: Brookline Books.
- Deshler, D. D., Schumaker, J. B., Lenz, B. K., Bulgren, J. A., Hock, M. F., Knight, J., et al. (2001). Ensuring content-area learning by secondary students with learning disabilities. *Learning Disabilities Research and Practice*, 16(2), 96-108.
- Deshler, D. D., Hock, M. & Catts, H. (2006). Enhancing outcomes for struggling adolescent readers. *Perspectives*, 32, 21-25.
- Ehri, L. C. (1998). Word reading by sight and by analogy in beginning readers. In C. Hulme & R. Joshi (Eds.), *Reading and Spelling; Development and Disorders* (pp. 87-111). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Ehri, L. C. (2004). Teaching phonemic awareness and phonics: An explanation of the National Reading Panel meta-analyses. In P. McCardle & V. Chhabra (Eds.), *The voice of evidence in reading research* (pp. 153-186). Baltimore: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.
- Felton, R. H. (1993). Effects of instruction on the decoding skills of children with phonological-processing problems. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 26, 583-589.
- Ferrell, M., & Sherman, G. (2011). Multisensory structured language education. In J. R. Birsh (Ed.), *Multisensory teaching of basic language skills* (3rd ed., pp. 25-43). Baltimore, MD: Brookes Publishing Co.
- Fish, B. Knell, E., & Buchanan, H. (2007). Teaching literacy to preliterate adults: The top and the bottom. *TESOL: Adult Education Interest Section Newsletter*, 5. 2.
- Fletcher, J. M., Lyon, G. R., Fuchs, L., & Barnes, M. (2007). *Learning disabilities: From identification to intervention*. New York, NY: Guilford Press.

- Foorman, B. R., Francis, D. J., Beeler, T., Winikates, D., & Fletcher, J. M. (1997). Early interventions for children with reading problems: Study designs and preliminary findings. *Learning Disabilities*, 8, 63-71.
- Foorman, B. R., Francis, D. J., Shaywitz, S. E., Shaywitz, B. A., Fletcher, J. M. (1997). The case for early reading intervention. In B. A. Blachman (Ed.), *Foundations of reading* acquisition and dyslexia: Implications for early intervention. (pp. 243- 264). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Foorman, B. R., & Schatschneider, C. (2003). Measuring teaching practice during reading/language arts instruction and its relation to student achievement. In S. Vaughn (Ed.), *Reading in the classroom: Systems for observing teaching and learning* (pp. 1-30). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes.
- Foorman, B. R., & Moats, L. C. (2004). Conditions for sustaining research-based practices in early reading instruction. *Remedial and Special Education*, 25, 51-60.
- Francis, D. J., Shaywitz, S. E., Stuebing, K. K., Shaywitz, B. A., & Fletcher, J. M. (1996). Developmental lag versus deficit models of reading disability: A longitudinal, individual growth curve analysis. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 88(1), 3-17.
- Gibson, E. J., Gibson, J. J., Pick, A. D., & Osser, H. A. (1962). A developmental study of the discrimination of letter-like forms. *Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology*, 55, 897-906.
- Gibson, E. J., & Levin, H. (1975). *The psychology of reading*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Gough, P. B. (1996). How children learn to read and why they fail. *Annals of Dyslexia*, 46, 3-20.
- Graham, S., & Hebert, M. A. (2010). Writing to read: Evidence for how writing can improve reading. A Carnegie Corporation Time to Act Report. Washington, DC: Alliance for Excellent Education.
- Greenberg, E., Dunleavy, E., & Kutner, M., (2007). *Literacy Behind Bars: Results From the 2003 National Assessment of Adult Literacy Prison Survey (NCES 2007-473).* U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- Hasbrouk, J. (2010). Developing fluent readers white paper. St. Paul, MN: Read Naturally.
- Hatcher, P. J., Hulme, C., & Snowling, M. J. (2004). Explicit phoneme training combined with phonic reading instruction helps young children at risk for reading failure. *Journal* of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 45, 338-358.
- Hock, M. F., Brasseur, I. F., Deshler, D. D., Catts, H. W., Mark, C., & Marquis, J. G. (2009). What is the reading component skill profile of adolescent struggling readers in urban schools? *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 32(1), 21-39.

- Høien, T., Lundberg, I., Stanovich, K.E., & Bjaalid, I-K. (1995). Components of phonological awareness. *Reading and Writing*, 7, 171-188.
- International Dyslexia Association. (2009). *Multisensory structured language teaching fact sheet*. Retrieved December 9, 2013, www.interdys.org/ewebeditpro5/upload/MSLTeaching.pdf
- Jones, M. L. (1996). *Phonics in ESL literacy instruction: Functional or not? Proceedings of the* 1996 World Conference on Literacy. Philadelphia, PA: International Literacy Institute.
- Joshi, R. M., Dahlgren, M., & Boulware-Gooden, R. (2002). Teaching reading in an inner city school through a multisensory teaching approach. *Annals of Dyslexia*, 52, 229-242.
- Juel, C. (1994). *Learning to read and write in one elementary school*. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag.
- Johnston, R. S., & Watson, J. E. (2006). The effectiveness of synthetic phonics teaching in developing reading and spelling skills in English- speaking boys and girls. In R. M. Joshi & P. G. Aaron (Eds.), *Handbook of Orthography and Literacy* (pp. 679-691). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Kamil, M. L. (2003). Adolescents and literacy: Reading for the 21st century. Washington, DC: Alliance for Excellent Education.
- Keith, J., & McCray, A. (2002). Juvenile offenders with special needs: Critical issues and bleak outcomes. *Qualitative Studies in Education*, 15, 691-710.
- Kim, J. (2008). Research and the Reading Wars. Phi Delta Kappan, 89(5), 372.
- Kirsch, I.S., Jungeblut, A., Jenkins, L., & Kolstad, A. (1993). Adult literacy in America: A first look at the findings of the National Adult Literacy Survey. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- Langenberg, D. N. (Ed.). (2000). *Report of the National Reading Panel: Teaching children to read*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Leach, J., Scarborough, H., & Rescorla, L. (2003). Late-emerging reading disabilities, Journal of Educational Psychology, 95, 211-224.
- Liberman, A. M. (1992). The relation of speech to reading and writing. In R. Frost & L. Katz (Eds.), *Orthography, Phonology, Morphology, and Meaning* (pp. 167-78). Amsterdam: Elsevier Science Publishers B.V.
- Liberman, I. and Liberman, A. (1990). Whole language vs. code emphasis: Underlying assumptions and their implications for reading instruction. *Annals of Dyslexia*, 40, 51-76.

- Liberman, I., Shankweiler, D., Fischer, F., & Carter, B. (1974). Explicit syllable and phoneme segmentation in the young child. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 18, 201-212.
- Lovett, M. W., Barron, R. W., & Benson, N. J. (2003). Effective remediation of word identification and decoding difficulties in school- age children with reading disabilities. In H. L. Swanson, K. R Harris, & S. Graham (Eds.), *Handbook of Learning Disabilities* (pp. 273-292). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Lyon, G. R. (1996, Spring). Learning disabilities. The Future of Children, 6(4), 54-76.
- Lyon, G. R., Fletcher, J. M., Shaywitz, S. E., Shaywitz, B. A., Torgesen, J. K., Wood, F. B., et al. (2001). Rethinking learning disabilities. In C. E. Finn, Jr., R. A. Rotherham, & C. R. Hokanson, Jr. (Eds.), *Rethinking special education for a new century* (pp. 259-287). Washington, DC: Thomas B. Fordham Foundation and Progressive Policy Institute.
- Lyon, G. R., Shaywitz, S. E., Shaywitz, B. A., (2003). A definition of dyslexia. *Annals of Dyslexia*, 53, 1-14.
- Mathes, P. G., Denton, C. A., Fletcher, J. M., Anthony, J. L., Francis, D. J., & Schatscheider, C. (2005). The effects of theoretically different instruction and student characteristics on the skills of struggling readers. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 40, 148-182.
- Lane, H & Contesse V. (2022) Phonics 101:Preparing Teachers to Provide Effective Intervention in Word Reading Skills. *University of Florida Press: Intervention in School and Clinic*, 10.
- McCardle, P., & Chhabra, V., & Kapinus, B. (2008). *Reading research in action: A teacher's guide for student success*. Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.
- Morgan, J. N., & Willows, D. M. (1998). *Reducing the risk of literacy failure: Direct instruction in phonemic awareness and alphabetic coding for young ESL children*. Toronto: The University of Toronto, Department of Curriculum, Ontario Institute for Studies in Education.
- Muter, V., Hulme, C., Snowling, M., & Taylor, S. (1997). Segmentation, not rhyming, predicts early progress in learning to read. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 35, 293-310.
- Nagy, W., & Anderson, R. C. (1984). The number of words in printed school English. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 19, 304-30.
- National Institute for Literacy. (2007). What content-area teachers should know about adolescent literacy. Washington, DC: National Institute of Child Health & Development. Retrieved December 9, 2013 from http://lincs.ed.gov/publications/pdf/adolescent_literacy07.pdf

- National Institute of Child Health and Human Development. (2000). Report of the National Reading Panel. Teaching children to read: An evidence-based assessment of the scientific research literature on reading and its implications for reading instruction: Reports of the subgroups (NIH Publication No. 00-4754). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Penney, C. (2002). Teaching decoding skills to poor readers in high school. *Journal of Literacy Research*, 34, 99-118.
- Perfetti, C. A. (1985). *Reading Ability*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Perfetti, C. A. (1991) The psychology, pedagogy, and politics of reading. *Psychological Science*, 2, 70-6.
- Pressley, M., & Rankin, J. (1994). More about whole language methods of reading instruction for students at risk for early reading failure. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 9, 157-168.
- National Assessment for Educational Progress (2022). *NAEP Report Card: 2022 NAEP Mathematics Assessment*; Highlighted results at grades 4 and 8 for the nation, states, and districts.
- National Assessment for Educational Progress (2022). *NAEP Report Card: 2022 NAEP Reading Assessment*; Highlighted results at grades 4 and 8 for the nation, states, and districts.
- Rayner, K., & Pollatsek, A. (1989). *The Psychology of Reading*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Ryder, J. F., Tunmer, W. E., & Greaney, K. T. (2007). Explicit instruction in phonemic awareness and phonemically based decoding skills as an intervention strategy for struggling readers in whole language classrooms. *Reading and Writing: An Interdisciplinary Journal*, 8, 27-43.
- Scanlon, D. M., & Vellutino, F. R. (1996). Prerequisite skills, early instruction and success in first grade reading. *Mental and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*. 2, 54-63.
- Schwartz, S. (2022). Which States Have Passed 'Science of Reading' Laws? What's in Them? *Education Week*.
- Shankweiler, D., Lundquist, E., Katz, L., Stuebing, K.K., Fletcher, J.M., Brady, S., Fowler, A., Dreyer, L.G., Marchione, K.E., Shaywitz, S.E., & Shaywitz, B.A. (1999). Comprehension and decoding: Patterns of association in children with reading difficulties. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 31, 69-94.
- Shaywitz, S. (2003). Overcoming dyslexia: A new and complete science-based program for reading problems at any level. New York: Alfred A. Knopf.

- Shaywitz, B. A., Shaywitz, S. E., Blachman, B. A., Pugh, K. R., Fulbright, R. K., Skudlarski, P., et al. (2004). Development of left occipitotemporal systems for skilled reading in children after a phonologically-based intervention. *Biological Psychiatry*, 55(9), 926-933.
- Slingerland, B. A. (1971). A multi-sensory approach to language arts for specific language disability children: A guide for primary teachers. Cambridge, MA: Educators Publishing Service.
- Snow, C. E., Burns, S. M., & Griffin, P. (Eds.). (1998). *Preventing reading difficulties in young children*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Stahl, S. A. (1992). Saying the "p" word: Nine guidelines for exemplary phonics instruction. *The Reading Teacher*, 45, 618-625.
- Stanovich, K.E. (2016). Constructivism in Reading Education. *The Journal of Special Education*, 28 (3).
- Stanovich, K. E., & Stanovich, P. J. (1995). How research might inform the debate about early reading acquisition. Journal of Research in Reading, 18(2), 87-105.
- Stuart, M., & Masterson, J. (1992). Patterns of reading and spelling in 10-year-old children related to prereading phonological abilities. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 54, 168-187.
- Torgeson, J. K., Wagner, R. K., & Rashotte, C. A. (1997). Prevention and remediation of severe reading disabilities: Keeping the end in mind. *Scientific Studies in Reading*, 1(3), 217-234.
- Torgeson, J. K. (1998). Catch them before they fall: Identification and assessment to prevent reading failure in young children. *American Educator*, 22 (1 & 2) 32-39.
- Torgesen, J. K. (2000). Individual differences in response to early intervention in reading: The lingering problem of treatment resisters. *Learning Disability Research and Practice*, 15, 55-64.
- Weiser, B., & Mathes, P. (2011). Using encoding instruction to improve the reading and spelling performance of elementary students at risk for literacy difficulties: A bestevidence synthesis. *Review of Educational Research*, 81, 170-200. doi: 10.3102/0034654310396719
- Wolf, M., & Katzer-Cohen, T. (2001). Reading fluency and its intervention. *Scientific Studies in Reading*. 5(3), 211-239.
- Wolf, M. (2007). Proust and the squid: The story and science of the reading brain. New York, NY: Harper Collins.